Brief of Appellant

Filed 10-20-2020

Page 1 of 38

RECEIVED 10-20-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP001197-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DENNIS C. STRONG, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Outagamie Circuit Court, the Honorable Mitchell J. Metropulos Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

This was a credibility case. T.W. alleged that Mr. Strong had physical contact with her without her consent and it caused her pain. Mr. Strong denied this occurred. T.W.'s teenage children testified that although they did not see any physical contact, they perceived T.W. to be scared. The issues are:

1. Whether Mr. Strong is entitled to a new trial based on the court's exclusion of a prior false report T.W. made to police about a physical altercation four months earlier.

The circuit court concluded that the evidence was not relevant.

- 2. Whether Mr. Strong is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice based on:
 - A. The State's introduction of prohibited other acts evidence and the court's refusal to allow Mr. Strong to rebut it.
 - B. The State's elicitation of testimony from a law enforcement officer that improperly vouched for T.W.'s veracity.

The circuit court ruled that the "other acts" evidence was not other acts evidence, and although it was a "close" question as to whether it was error not to let Mr. Strong rebut the evidence, any error was harmless. The court concluded that the challenged

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 7 of 38

law enforcement testimony was not improper vouching.

3. Whether Mr. Strong is entitled to a new trial based on plain error due to the State's improper closing arguments.

The circuit court ruled that the State's arguments were close to the line but did not cross that line.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is not authorized because this is a one-judge appeal. See Wis. Stat. §§ 752.31(2)(d) and 809.23(4)(b). Oral argument is not requested. Mr. Strong anticipates that the briefs will sufficiently present the issues.

INTRODUCTION

Each of the errors alleged in this appeal bear on the single more important question in this case: whether T.W. should be believed. First, the court erroneously excluded important impeachment evidence that would have undercut T.W.'s credibility. Second, the State improperly elicited propensity evidence to suggest that Mr. Strong has a bad character and Mr. Strong was not permitted to rebut this evidence. Third, the State improperly elicited testimony vouching for T.W.'s credibility. And finally, the State made improper closing arguments that

invited the jury to convict on factors other than the evidence at trial. The independent and cumulative effect of these errors warrants a new trial. Mr. Strong was pro se, and certain errors were not subject to contemporaneous objection. However, review of these errors is warranted under the interest of justice doctrine and plain error doctrine.

Page 8 of 38

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Mr. Strong with two counts of misdemeanor battery to T.W. and one count of disorderly conduct, as a repeater.¹ (R.2). Mr. Strong entered not guilty pleas and represented himself.

During pretrial proceedings, Mr. Strong filed a motion to compel production of police reports from a November 19, 2016, event involving T.W. and for leave to impeach her with the incident. (R.16). The State did not object to providing the reports to Mr. Strong but asked to address admissibility at the time of trial. (R.289:8). The police reports show that on November 19, 2016, T.W.'s friend Crystal Denton phoned police and reported that she was physically attacked outside a bar.² (R.258:25-31; App. 125). She

Count one: battery as a repeater, contrary to s. 940.19(1) and s. 939.62(1)(a); Count two: disorderly conduct as a repeater, contrary to s. 947.01(1) and 939.62(1)(a); Count three: battery as a repeater, contrary to s. 940.19(1) and s. 939.62(1)(a). (R.2).

² The police reports about the November 19, 2016, incident were attached to Mr. Strong's postconviction motion.

told police that her friend, T.W., was present and witnessed the attack. T.W. affirmed her friend's story, and falsely told police she was present and saw the attack. Then, she admitted to police that she had lied. She was not present and had told a false story at her friend's behest. (*Id.*).

Mr. Strong also moved to introduce T.W.'s prior testimony about the November 19, 2016, incident. (R.294:15). During revocation proceedings against Mr. Strong in Outagamie County Case No. 11-CF-05, T.W. testified before the administrative law judge that she lied to police—although she minimized the conduct by stating she phoned police back to admit her lie. (R.133:25:19). ³

The court asked whether the false report was regarding Mr. Strong, and Mr. Strong said no. The court then ruled it would not be allowed. (R.294:15). "It doesn't involve you. It's not relevant." (*Id.*). The court also quashed Mr. Strong's subpoenas for two individuals involved in that incident, Crystal Denton and Nathan Williams. (R.294:14, 16).

At trial, T.W. testified that she and Mr. Strong had been friends for many years. (R.295:107). On March 21, 2017, she invited Mr. Strong over to her house. (R.295:106-07). When he got there, they were hanging out and Mr. Strong was acting normal. (R.295:109). Then, she said, Mr. Strong's attitude

³ T.W.'s testimony was on a disc marked Exhibit 2 at trial. Her testimony about this incident begins at 25:19 of the recording. (R. 133 (Tr. Ex. 2)).

suddenly changed, and he flicked her in the face, pushed her head, put his hand on her neck, pulled on her hair and hit her face with an open hand. (R.295: 109-112, 117). T.W.'s teenage children did not witness any physical contact but observed that their mother seemed scared. (R.295:193, 203, 208). T.W.'s son testified he called police at his mother's request. (R.295:209, 214). Police responded and arrested Mr. Strong, whom they found hiding in a closet. (R.295:175). Mr. Strong said he mistook the police for someone else. (R.295:242).⁴

Officer Woelfel took part in arresting Mr. Strong. (R.295:242). The State asked him a long series of questions pertaining to his interactions with Mr. Strong after the arrest, in the squad car and at the jail. Officer Woelfel testified that Mr. Strong was acting "very strange" and asking several questions about the officer's work. (R.295:247). The State asked a leading question, "Did it appear to you that he was subtly trying to figure out who you are?" and the officer said yes. (R.295:248). The State asked about Mr. the Strong's statements at jail, Officer Woelfel testified that Mr. Strong became more argumentative. The following exchange comprised of leading questions then occurred:

Q. Was he argumentative in an odd, sort of creepy way?

⁴ Mr. Strong attempted to introduce evidence that this was the father of T.W.'s children, and that he had a contentious relationship with him, but the court disallowed the question. (R.295:165).

- A. Yes.
- Q. Why?
- A. Staring, asking questions blatantly about you, your police work, and just that awkward stare towards you that he would not deviate from you.
- Q. When he stared at you sometimes did he say, "See you Soon?"
- A. At some points, yes.
- Q. And sometimes when he said that did he have a smile on his face?
- A. Yes.
- Q. But despite that smile did you still sort of get the heebie-jeebies? -- and I don't know how that's going to be transcribed.
- A. Very much so, yes.

(R.295:248-49).

The State then played a clip of body camera footage from the jail. The State continued with questions, characterizing Mr. Strong as threatening.

- Q. -- did he look at you and sort of smile and wink and then make vague threats throughout your communication with him?
- A. Yes.

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 12 of 38

- Q. When you saw him in the elevator, was he wobbling around a little bit?
- A. A little bit, yes.
- Q. And then he said, "See you soon"?
- A. Uh-huh (meaning yes).

(R.295:250). The State played another clip and asked several more questions about whether Officer Woelfel perceived Mr. Strong to be threatening. (R.295:251).

Mr. Strong attempted to play a different clip to contextualize the "see you soon" comment. In that clip, Mr. Strong discussed the speedy-trial timelines. The court did not allow him to play the clip, saying it was not relevant. (R.295:263-66). The court implied that the evidence would have been relevant had the charges been different, saying in front of the jury: "it's not relevant. You're not charged with resisting or obstructing, Mr. Strong, you're charged with battery and disorderly conduct." (R.295:266).

Outside the presence of the jury, Mr. Strong expressed his concern about the evidence, stating, "honestly, I was very cordial that evening -- and I think that's creating a perception of -- I know that's not what's on trial -- but to have the officer essentially be converted into an expert witness, not as to the police investigative part, but as far as, like -- ." The court responded, "You're just babbling, Mr. Strong." (R.295:270-71).

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 13 of 38

Lieutenant DelPlaine was also present on scene, taking statements from witnesses, including T.W. The State asked Lieutenant DelPlaine about his experience with domestic abuse cases, and asked if it was common for these victims to hesitate prior to giving a full story. Lieutenant DelPlaine answered yes. (296:70). The State then asked, "Is that what occurred in this case?" and Lieutenant DelPlaine said "I believe so, sir." (R.296:71). The State continued, "In your experience dealing with hundreds and hundreds of domestic abuse victims and other victims of a crime, did it appear to you when you showed up and when she finally disclosed this incident, did it appear that she was doing this in an attempt to get back at him?" (R.296:74). Lieutenant DelPlaine said no.

During closing, the State argued, "This all whether believe to we [T.W.]." (R.296:197). It emphasized Lieutenant DelPlaine's "What testimony, stating, we heard Lieutenant DelPlaine today is it's pretty consistent with someone who's been abused." (R.296:186). Also during closing, the State argued that none of the witnesses had anything to gain from the prosecution and neither did he (the prosecutor):

And then he talks about police officers, who have young kids, most of them, who have families, thinking that they'll come up here and lie. To get what? All right? They're home with their families right now, they put on the badge and the gun every single day, hoping they come home safe, they're here to tell you exactly what happened, they don't care what the result is, they've moved

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 14 of 38

on since March to probably more bigger and more exciting cases than this, they get no benefit from this verdict. So they have no motivation to lie as the defendant said, and neither do I.

(R.296:212).

The jury returned guilty verdicts. (R.140). The court, the Honorable Mitchell J. Metropulos presiding, entered judgments of conviction and sentenced Mr. Strong to prison. (R.236).

Strong filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial and sentencing hearing. (R.258). On November 13, 2019, the court, the Honorable Mitchell J. Metropulos again presiding, held a postconviction hearing. (R.300; App. 102-123). The parties made oral arguments. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court denied the motion for a new but granted resentencing. (R.300:11-18; App. 112-119). Α written order was entered accordingly. (R.265; App. 101). The court's ruling on the new trial claims that are raised in this appeal will be discussed in the argument section below. Mr. Strong was subsequently resentenced. (R.274).

This appeal follows.

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 15 of 38

ARGUMENT

- I. The court erroneously excluded evidence that T.W. lied to police about a physical altercation four months before she alleged the physical altercation in this case.
 - A. Standard of review.

This Court reviews a circuit court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an erroneous exercise of discretion. "A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it applies an improper legal standard or makes a decision not reasonably supported by the facts of record." *State v. Hunt*, 2014 WI 102, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434 (internal citations omitted).

B. T.W.'s lie was admissible as a prior incident of untruthful conduct and its exclusion prejudiced Mr. Strong's case.

Mr. Strong moved to introduce evidence that T.W. lied to police about a physical altercation four months before she accused Mr. Strong. The court excluded the evidence on relevance grounds. However, the evidence was not only relevant; it was highly relevant given the circumstances of the case. It was admissible under Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2) (specific incidents of untruthful conduct).

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 16 of 38

On November 19, 2016, T.W.'s friend Crystal Denton phoned police and reported that she was physically attacked outside the Corner Pub. She told police that her friend, T.W., was present and witnessed the attack. T.W. affirmed her friend's story, and falsely told police she was present and witnessed the attack. Then, she admitted that this was a lie.

T.W.'s false report to police was admissible under s. 906.08(2) which provides:

Specific instances of conduct. Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness's character for truthfulness, other than a conviction of a crime or an adjudication of delinquency as provided in s. 906.09, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, subject to s. 972.11(2), if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness and not remote in time, be inquired into on cross-examination of the witness or on cross-examination of a witness who testifies to his or her character for truthfulness or untruthfulness.

Based on this statute, at minimum, Mr. Strong should have been permitted to ask T.W. about the false report. It was not remote in time. The false report occurred on November 19, 2016, and the alleged incident here occurred on March 21, 2017—four months later. *C.f.*, *Schultz v. Sykes*, 2001 WI App 255, ¶30, 248 Wis. 2d 746, 638 N.W.2d 604 (ten-year-

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 17 of 38

old incidents were "remote in time" and properly excluded).

The circuit court's contemporaneous ruling that the evidence was not relevant just because it did not directly involve Mr. Strong was an error of law. (R.295:15). The statute does not limit prior instances of untruthful conduct in this way. An exercise of discretion based on an improper legal standard is error. *State v. Hunt*, 360 Wis. 2d 576, ¶20.

The circuit court's postconviction ruling on this issue was somewhat different. It found the evidence to be irrelevant, but based on the time that elapsed and the fact that it was a single incident:

I know Mr. Strong wanted to get into this other incident that apparently occurred about five months earlier, the Court did not allow that, the Court found it to be extrinsic evidence, not relevant evidence, he was trying to get it in to attack the credibility of the victim. The statute that defense counsel cites, 906.08(2), talks about specific instances of conduct with regards to a witness's character for truthfulness, and then goes on to say that if there are instances that are not remote in time, the court has discretion to allow that in. There's no real guidance in the statute as to what "remote in time" would be. In the Court's opinion, a five months earlier incident that really is not relevant to what the trial was about, one specific incident, this really doesn't go towards a witness's character for truthfulness, I don't believe there are going to be any witnesses coming forth saying that the victim has a reputation for untruthfulness, my Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 18 of 38

understanding is he just wanted the specific instance in, and I found it to be irrelevant, and I still would find it to be irrelevant, even considering 906.08(2).

(R.300:14-15; App. 115-16).

Contrary to the court's ruling, this evidence was clearly relevant. "Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence any fact that is of consequence determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.01. The prior false report tends to make it more likely that T.W. was not being truthful with police about what happened with Mr. Strong. The false report was close in time. Moreover, the police contact was similar. In both in the prior incident and in this case, T.W. made a report to police regarding an alleged physical altercation. Lying to police is very serious and certainly probative of one's character for truthfulness. T.W. put others at risk of arrest and prosecution. T.W. admitted to lying to police so this was not disputed evidence that would require a significant diversion in the case. The evidence was relevant and admissible.

In this credibility case, the erroneous exclusion of the November 16, 2019, impeachment evidence was prejudicial. The case depended on T.W.'s credibility. Evidence showing that she lied to police about a physical assault four months earlier would have undercut her credibility, and thus, the State's case as a whole.

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 19 of 38

II. The State elicited unlawful testimony that warrants a new trial in the interest of justice.

A. Standard of review.

This Court has the broad power to order a new trial in the interest of justice in cases where errors were otherwise waived by a party's failure to object. Wis. Stat. § 752.35. Section 752.35 provides:

In an appeal to the court of appeals, if it appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried, the court may reverse the judgment or order appealed from, regardless of whether the proper motion or objection appears in the record and may direct the entry of the proper judgment or remit the case to the trial court for entry of the proper judgment or for a new trial, and direct the making of such amendments in the pleadings and the adoption of such procedure in that court, not inconsistent with statutes or rules, as are necessary to accomplish the ends of justice.

No showing of a probable likelihood of a different result at the second trial is required. State v. Harp, 161 Wis. 2d 773, 779, 469 N.W.2d 210 (Ct. App. 1991). A new trial is warranted where the real controversy was not fully tried. This may occur when the jury heard evidence it should not have heard or was deprived of evidence it should have heard. State v. Schumacher, 144 Wis. 2d 388, 400, 424 N.W.2d 672 (1988).

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 20 of 38

B. The State erroneously elicited other acts evidence about Mr. Strong.

The State improperly introduced extensive evidence about Mr. Strong's interaction with Officer Woelfel after Mr. Strong had been arrested. This evidence had no relevance to the charges. Instead, it was impermissible other acts evidence, which invited the jury to find that Mr. Strong had a bad character, permitted an inference that Mr. Strong was escaping responsibility for other criminal conduct, and confused the issues at trial.

The State asked Officer Woelfel a long series of leading questions, showing that this testimony was not incidental, but rather intentional.

- "Did it appear to you that he was subtly trying to figure out who you are?"
- "Was he argumentative in an odd, sort of creepy way?"
- "Did you still sort of get the heebie-jeebies?"
- "Did he look at you and sort of smile and wink and then make vague threats throughout your communication with him?
- And then he said, "See you soon"?

(R.295:247-50).

Case 2020AP001197 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-20-2020 Page 21 of 38

Mr. Strong attempted to play a different clip wherein he mentioned the speedy-trial timelines, in order to contextualize the "see you soon" comment, but the court did not allow him to play the clip, saying it was not relevant. (R.295:263-66). The court implied that the evidence *would* have been relevant had the charges been different: "it's not relevant. You're not charged with resisting or obstructing, Mr. Strong, you're charged with battery and disorderly conduct." (R.295:266).

Evidence that a defendant committed other bad acts is prohibited in a criminal trial, with enumerated exceptions. Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2); State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). The reasons for the rule excluding other acts evidence were set forth by the court in Whitty v. State, 34 Wis. 2d 278, 292, 149 N.W.2d 557, as follows:

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