RECEIVED 11-19-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

2020AP001197

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Dennis C. Strong Jr.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

The Honorable Mitchell J. Metropulos, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Chuck M. Stertz ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY 320 S. WALNUT STREET APPLETON WI 54911 (920) 832-5024 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin Bar Number 1072938

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr.

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

The most important piece of evidence for a reviewing court is the trial transcript itself, not the postconviction court's assertions or speculation. See State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 544-45, 370 N.W.2d 222. By focusing on the trial transcript, the reviewing court avoids speculation. See State v. Coffee, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 38, 389 Wis. 2d 627, 650, 937 N.W.2d 579, 590.

Wisconsin statute § 901.03(1) states that an "(e)rror may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected; and" ... a "timely objection or motion to strike

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr. appears in the record, stating the specific ground of objection...". Wis. Stat. § 901.03(1) and (1)(a). In other words, the opponent of the evidence must do all four (1) use the word "object," (2) on the record, (3) in a timely manner, and (4) must recite the particular ground for the objection. A failure to make a proper objection, for any reason, waives any error in admitting the evidence.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has repeatedly held "that an objection must be made as soon as the opponent might reasonably be aware of the objectionable nature of the testimony." Simpson v. State, 83 Wis. 2d 494, 509, 266 N.W.2d 270, 276 (1978); see also *U.S. v. Mezzanatto*, 513 U.S. 196, 203, 115 S.Ct. 797, 130 L.Ed.2d 697, 40 Fed. R. Evid. Serv. 1220 (1995). "First, it is the role of the appellate court to correct errors made by the trial court, not to rule on matters never considered by the trial court. Second, requiring objections at trial allows the trial judge an opportunity to correct or to avoid errors, thereby resulting in efficient judicial administration and eliminating the need for appeal." Vollmer v Luety, 156 Wis.2d 1, 10, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). Parties frequently waive evidentiary objections for strategic purposes, such tactics should be routinely honored. Mezzanatto, 513 U.S.

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr. at 203. It is left to the parties to decide whether or not the rules are to be enforced. *Id*.

Trial "judges have no obligation to act as counsel or paralegal to pro se litigants." Pliler v. Ford, 542 U.S.

225, 231, 124 S. Ct. 2441, 159 L. Ed. 2d 338 (2004). Pro se litigants, though acting without counsel, are still required to timely assert their rights. State v. Pope, 2019 WI 106, ¶ 46, 389 Wis. 2d 390, 936 N.W.2d 606, cert. denied, No. 19-7939, 2020 WL 5882407 (U.S. Oct. 5, 2020); see also State v. Nelson, 2016 WI App 80, ¶ 17, 372 Wis. 2d 184, 888 N.W.2d 22 (technical legal knowledge is not relevant in assessing a defendant's ability to represent himself.)

a. Cross-examination of T.W. regarding a single instance of falsehood.

"Character is evinced by a pattern of behavior or method of conduct demonstrated by an individual over the course of time. Thus, allegations of a single instance of falsehood cannot imply a character for untruthfulness"

State v. Eugenio, 219 Wis. 2d 391, 404, 579 N.W.2d 642

(1998). If the proposed evidence of a prior false statement is admissible to test credibility, the trial court nevertheless has the obligation to determine whether the

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr. probative value is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Wis. Stat. § 904.03; and see McClelland v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 145, 162, 267 N.W.2d 843, 848 (1978).

Evidence of a specific instance cannot be offered through extrinsic evidence. Wis. Stat. §906.08(2); and McClelland, 84 Wis.2d at 162. The cross examiner may ask the defendant about a past incident, but must take the witness's answer.

At trial, Mr. Strong asked T.W. about a prior false statement she provided to police and then, without prompting, corrected. (R.295:133) The false statement related to a bar fight that did not involve Mr. Strong or (R.294:15 and R.133.) Mr. Strong sought to introduce this statement to show T.W. had a character for untruthfulness. The Court allowed questioning on the statement:

Q: Wasn't there a point, though, that you had said that you had called the police back and said that everything you said was not true?

A: No.

Q: What was that you had said that you called the police back and said everything was not true? I thought that was -

A: Never, I never said that.

O: Was that you that said that or (C.D.)? I'm not sure.

(R.295:133-134.) In response to the State objected after the question about C.D.; the Court told Mr. Strong he could "not state any other person's testimony" and instructed him to ask his next impeachment question. (R.295:134.) While the judge told the jury to disregard the question about C.D.'s false statement; the judge neither struck the question and answer regarding T.W.'s contact with police, nor instructed the jury to disregard that testimony. (R.295:134-135.) Rather than accepting the invitation to continue impeaching T.W., Mr. Strong moved on to questions about the night of March 21, 2017. (R.295:135.)

Mr. Strong was permitted to cross-examine T.W. on the false report. The court only sustained an objection to a question regarding C.D.'s statements. Regardless of whether the evidence was admissible or not, the evidence was admitted at trial.1

 $^{
m 1}$ Even if the trial court had struck the testimony, which he did not,

this brief false statement, months before Mr. Strong's conduct, has very little if any probative value as to T.W.'s character for untruthfulness. If anything it shows her character for truthfulness in

b. Strong's demeanor with officers and exclusion of video clip.

During day one of the jury trial, the State solicited testimony from Officer Woelfel regarding Mr. Strong's demeanor. (R.295:242-251.) During cross-examination of Officer Woelfel, Mr. Strong continued the line of questioning regarding his demeanor with officers. (R. 295: 252-263.) Not only did Mr. Strong not object during direct examination to the evidence of his demeanor, he continued the line of questioning during cross-examination. See Mezzanatto, 513 U.S. at 203. Any error in admitting the testimony or video during direct examination was waived. Mezzanatto, 513 U.S. at 203; Simpson, 83 Wis. 2d at 509; McClelland, 84 Wis. 2d 145, 162; and see Wis. Stat. § 901.03.

that she initiated the call to police recanting and explaining the false statement. See Wis. Stat. 906.08(1)(b). The false statement involved C.D. asking T.W. to lie for her by saying she witnessed a bar fight. When the officer contacted T.W., T.W. initially, at the request of C.D., told the officer she witnessed the fight. T.W. then called the officer back, telling the officer she was not at the bar, did not witness the fight, and only said she did at C.D.'s request. (R.133.) The incident did not involve T.W. initiating contact with police. It did not involve T.W. claiming injury to herself, anyone attacking her, or her reporting a fight that did not occur. The false statement was quickly rectified by T.W. without any additional evidence or confrontation, and before the officer even completed his report. Even if the judge had struck the testimony or prohibited further questioning on the statement, which he did not, any further questions would have been cumulative, and resulted in a waste of time. Regardless of its probative value, the audio recording of the prior testimony is inadmissible extrinsic evidence.

i. Prohibiting publishing the body camera video to the jury

During his cross-examination of Officer Woelfel, Mr. Strong asked Officer Woelfel if, during Mr. Strong's "see you soon" statements, he mentioned his speedy trial demand. (R. 295:262-263.) Officer Woelfel twice acknowledged that at least once Mr. Strong referenced seeing him in "50 to 90 days in court." (R. 295:262-263.) As the witness acknowledged that statement, the video recording of the statement was properly excluded as cumulative evidence. See Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

ii. Corroborating evidence

Even if Mr. Strong had objected to Officer Woelfel's testimony regarding Mr. Strong's demeanor with police, the evidence was direct evidence of his demeanor that night and was corroborating evidence as to his demeanor prior to officers arriving. Even if the State had offered it solely to prove consciousness of guilt, it is admissible for that purpose. See Wangerin v. State, 73 Wis.2d 427, 437, 243 N.W.2d 448 (1976) (evidence of flight and related conduct is admissible); see also State v. Subdiaz-Osorio, 2014 WI 87, ¶ 100, 357 Wis. 2d 41, 95, 849 N.W.2d 748, 775.

During both direct examination and cross-examination,
T.W., A.D., and M.D. all testified, both in cross and on
direct, that Mr. Strong's demeanor changed from his normal
demeanor to threatening as the evening progressed. (see ex.
R. 295: 116, 192, 208, 211.) T.W. testified that his
demeanor switched back and forth between calm and
threatening. This was not a delayed report case, the
police were called (and arrived) during the incident. (R.
295: 120-121; and R.132.)

When officers arrived at the house, they located Mr. Strong hiding in a closet. (R. 295:124, 241, and 257.) In response to cross-examination, Officer Woelfel testified that Mr. Strong did not immediately exit the closet upon Officer Woelfel finding him, rather he just stared at Officer Woelfel in an aggressive manner until additional officers were in the room. (R. 295:257.) Mr. Strong continued alternating between telling officers he respected them and making threatening comments. (R. 295:257-265.)

During cross-examination of Officer Woelfel, Mr.

Strong used the same line of questioning about his demeanor with officers in an attempt to show he was cordial with officers and not acting in an aggressive manner. (R. 295:241.) Officer Woelfel's testimony involved a

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr. continuation of the same demeanor discussed in earlier testimony, it was neither other acts nor cumulative evidence.

c. Cross-examination of Lt. Carlos DelPlaine

Whether Lt. DelPlaine's testimony on cross-examination was a "non-expert observation or an expert opinion" Mr. Strong waived any objection by failing to object in a timely and specific manner on a "question-by question" basis. Estate of Kriefall v. Sizzler USA Franchise, Inc., 2011 WI App 101, ¶ 40, 335 Wis. 2d 151, 194, 801 N.W.2d 781, 802, aff'd, 2012 WI 70, 342 Wis. 2d 29, 816 N.W.2d 853. Law enforcement officers experiences on the job often qualify them as experts. See U.S. v. Rollins, 544 F.3d 820, (7th Cir. 2008); and Vouch v. American Standard Ins. Co. 151 Wis. 2d 138, 442 N.W.2d 598 (Ct. App. 1989). The same witness, including law enforcement, may testify to one line of questions as a lay witness and another line of questions as an expert. See Id. By not contemporaneously objecting to the testimony, Mr. Strong cannot now claim that receipt of the testimony was error. Kriefall, 2011 WI APP 101 at ¶41.

i. Admissible expert testimony

The trial judge is entrusted with the task of ensuring that an expert's testimony both rests on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the task at hand. Kuhmo Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 141, 119 S. Ct. 1167, 1171, 143 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1999). There is no magic formula or strict list of factors required in this analysis. Id. at 150. The testimony is admissible when the testimony is based on "a reliable basis in the knowledge and experience of [the relevant] discipline." Id. at 149 (quoting Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 592, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993). Court is not to exclude reliable and probative testimony, rather the court's sole role is to exclude "expertise that is fausse and science that is junky." Id. at 159 (Scalia, J., concurring).

Any witness with sufficient experience in the relevant field can provide opinion testimony if that opinion has a valid "connection to the pertinent inquiry as a precondition to admissibility." Kuhmo Tire, 526 U.S. at 149 (quoting Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592). It is irrelevant whether or not that opinion is based on an examination of

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr. the victim or from the officer's training and experience alone. *Kuhmo Tire*, 526 U.S. at 150. The court's job is to make certain that an expert, whether basing testimony upon professional studies or personal experience, employs the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field. *Id*. at 152.

During Mr. Strong's case-in-chief, he called several witnesses include Lt. DelPlaine. (R.296:2 and 46.) During direct examination, Mr. Strong asked Lt. DelPlaine questions about Lt. DelPlaine's interaction with T.W. (R.296:54-63.) During cross-examination, Lt. DelPlaine testified that during his interaction with T.W. "it appeared that she had been crying, it appeared that she had had or that she was having difficulty catching her breath, so she seemed to have been very disturbed by this whole incidence." (R.296:67-68.) He also testified that he was attempting to comfort T.W. to get her to explain what happened. (R.296:70.)

Lt. DelPlaine testified that in his 32 years as an officer he has a lot of experience investigating crimes involving power and control relationships. (R.296: 70-71.)

He agreed that in those types of situations, in his experience "it is pretty common for victims of a crime to

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Dennis C. Strong Jr. hesitate prior to actually giving (officers) the full story of what happened." (R.296:71.) Lt. DelPlaine went on to testify that "while this wasn't a statutory ... domestic relationship" he believed that they were intimate, and that the relationship was in all but name a domestic situation.

(R. 296:71.) T.W. was displaying behaviors similar to what he had seen a number of domestic victims displaying in past cases. (R.296:72.)

Lt. DelPlaine testified that when officers first arrived T.W. was very hesitant to provide officers with any information. He explained that her hesitation is consistent with domestic victims from his past cases. (R.296:72.) He also testified that eventually T.W. told officers that she feared retaliation for calling the police. (R.296:72-73.) On re-direct, Lt. DelPlaine emphasized that his testimony was based on his experience investigating crimes, not on particular studies or research on domestic abuse. (R. 296:75.)

Regardless of whether Lt. DelPlaine considered himself an expert, the State laid the foundation for his testimony by establishing his extensive experience in investigating domestic-type abuse. This experience and knowledge forms a "reliable basis in the knowledge and experience" from which

STATE OF WISCONSIN-VS- Dennis C. Strong Jr. he testified. Kuhmo Tire, 526 U.S. at 149. His testimony showed not only his sufficient experience, it established a valid "connection to the pertinent inquiry." Kuhmo Tire, 526 U.S. at 149. Even if Mr. Strong had made a timely objection, Lt. DelPlaine's testimony was admissible as expert testimony under a Kuhmo Tire analysis.

2. Closing arguments

Failing to timely move for a mistrial, even when a defendant objects to a prosecutor's closing argument, waives any objection to the prosecutor's closing argument statements. State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, ¶ 86, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606; and State v. Bell, 2018 WI 28, n. 13, 380 Wis. 2d 616, 629, 909 N.W.2d 750, 756. "It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court. Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 and Bell, 2018 WI 28, n.13.

The appellate court may still review errors even when they are not properly preserved under the plain error doctrine. Bell, 2018 WI 28, at ¶ 12. To qualify for plain

STATE OF WISCONSIN-VS- Dennis C. Strong Jr. error review, however, the error "must be 'obvious and substantial[,]'" and "'so fundamental that a new trial or other relief must be granted even though the action was not objected to at the time.'" *Id*. (quoting *State v. Jorgensen*, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 21, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77.)

There can be no plain error unless the prosecutor's closing or rebuttal argument was improper, therefore the first step is to determine whether the prosecutor's argument was improper. Bell, 2018 WI 28, ¶ 14. Only if the argument is improper does the appellate court move to whether the error "was an error so obvious, substantial, and fundamental that a new trial is necessary." Id.

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